
NOTICE OF ISSUANCE OF ADDENDUM #2 
METUCHEN PARKING AUTHORITY 

METUCHEN, NEW JERSEY 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

PARKING MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

Notice is hereby given that Addendum #2 to the Request for Proposals for Parking Management 
Services is hereby issued. The purpose of the Addendum is to clarify the following: 

1. What type of documentation is required to be disclosed to the town in terms of
background checks?

The Operator will be responsible for conducting any background checks as
determined by Operator to ensure that the Operator employees are fit to perform
the required tasks in alignment with parking management standards.

2. Referring to Section A-17 of the scope of service, what exactly are we required to
perform in the way of security cooperation?

The Operator is required to provide regular patrols through all facilities two times
per day, providing customer service and promptly reporting undesirable or unsafe
activity to the Metuchen Police Department when necessary. See Section B-7 of
Scope of Services in the RFP.

3. How is LPR being leveraged on the enforcement side? Which LPR enforcement system
is being used? In other words, who is the vendor for the LPR enforcement integration?

There was an erroneous reference to LPR in the RFP Table of Contents. Please
ignore the reference to LPR.
The Metuchen Police Department will be researching and potentially procuring a
mobile LPR technology for parking enforcement in the near future. Presently there
is no LPR system being used for enforcement.

4. Can we charge an issuance fee directly to the end user per permit issuance?

No.

5. If permitting is flowing through the LPR enforcement system, for what reason are printed
permits required?

See response to Question 3.

6. Is there a desired redundancy on the permitting with LPR in addition to printed,
dashboard displayed permits?

See response to Question 3.



 

7. Section D-11 of the scope of services indicates that the “MPA will own the digital 
permitting system at the end of the 5-year contract.” Could you provide greater detail on 
this provision? Does this mean simply the rights to the data we collect as part of our 
administration of the permitting system? 

It is the intent of the MPA to own the permitting system at the end of the contract 
and to assume any recurring costs of the system thereafter. The MPA will be able 
to access, control and have the rights to all aspects of the digital permitting 
system at the end of the contract, including any accounts and data collected.  

8. Could you provide an itemized list of events per year and the approximated vehicle 
volume per event? 

Please note that special events may or may not require additional staffing by the 
Operator. Any additional costs associated with the Operator staffing for special 
events will be a pass-through expense and should not be included in the RFP 
proposal budget.  

9. Could you provide greater detail on the meaning of “compatibility to the Borough/MPA’s 
website”? Does this simply mean the ability of vendor to embed a link onto the website? 

Yes.  

10. Could you describe in greater detail the processes currently in place for issuing as well 
as enforcing permits? 

Permit applications can be made on the MPA website. Once submitted, the 
applicant is contacted by the MPA Permit Clerk to determine availability and 
provide residency documentation if required. Once availability is determined, the 
applicant then makes payment normally by check or cash. The MPA has 
contracted with Official Payments enabling permit holders to make credit card or 
e-check payments online via a link from the MPA’s website. Permits are issued 
quarterly by lot in the form of hangtags that permit holders receive by mail or pick 
up at the Borough Hall.  

Permits are enforced by Parking Enforcement Officers who monitor each parking 
lot Monday through Saturday. 

11. Can you describe the special event rates currently being charged?  

There is currently no specific fee for event parking. 

12. Can you describe which lots within the portfolio are assigned for special event parking 
on event days? 

The Halsey Street lot is used for most special event parking. 



 

13. How many total light fixtures are there per facility and in total throughout the entire 
parking portfolio? 

• Halsey St. lot – 4 poles with one light fixture each. Perimeter of lot, 5 poles 
with one light fixture each. Total lights – 9. 

• South Main St. lot – 1 pole with 2 light fixtures. Total lights – 2. 
• New St. lot – 2 poles with 2 light fixtures each. Total lights – 4. 
• Station Pl. lot – 2 poles with 1 light fixture each. Total lights – 2. 
• Memorial Parkway lot – 3 poles with 1 light fixture each. Total lights – 3.  

Vendors should visit the facilities to confirm the number of light fixtures at each 
location.  

14. Regarding the security service requirements in Section B-7 of scope of services, can this 
function be subcontracted? 

Yes, as permitted in “Proof of Businesses Registration” and “Subcontractors” in 
the Statutory and Other Requirements section of the RFP.  

15. Regarding Section B-7 in scope of services, wherein there are details of security duties, 
are these required to be performed by licensed security professionals? Or can regular 
parking administration personnel perform these duties? 

No. Parking personnel can perform security walkthroughs of the facilities.  

16. How many total on-street parking meters are there through the MPA portfolio? 

There are 179 on-street electronic meters and 66 mechanical meters that only take 
pay-by-cell on-street.  

17. Is there currently an agreement in place for regular maintenance of the on-street meters 
as well as the IPS pay stations? If so, could you provide detail? 

No. 

18. Will all costs related to the repair and maintenance of meters and pay stations be a 
pass-through expense? Or is that a cost to the operator/vendor? 

Yes. All repair/maintenance expenses will be paid by the Metuchen Borough/MPA. 
See Section B-1 of Scope of Services of the RFP. 

19. Bullet 3 of “Other Insurance Coverage” requires operator to have “automobile liability 
insurance.” Is the provision and maintenance of a vehicle a requirement of fulfilling the 
scope of services outlined in the RFP document? 

No vehicle is required. However, if the Operator deems a vehicle necessary to 
undertake the parking management responsibilities outlined in the RFP, the cost 
of the vehicle allocable to the MPA operations should be included in the Proposal 
Budget. 



 

20. Is the operator required to provide general liability insurance sufficient to cover all 
parking spaces, both on-street and off-street? Just off-street? Please clarify. 

No. The Operator is required to provide general liability insurance to cover its 
performance, acts or omissions as set forth in Section II-B of the RFP.  

21. What is entailed in the 30-day transition operating expense (fixed cost) in Exhibit Q of 
the RFP document? 

The estimated cost of the Operator to interact with the MPA to effectuate the 
transition of management services. 

22. Can you please reshare all current and historical financial statements included in the 
RFP (e.g. “Profit and Loss Prev Year Comparison YTD”)? They are difficult to read as is. 

Yes. Please see the updated exhibits attached hereto.  

23. The Profit & Loss Report on page 47 (electronic page) is hard to read (blurry). Would the 
parking authority be able to provide the report in the original format? 

See response to Question 22. 

24. Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, and I are hard to read (blurry). Would the City be able to 
provide the exhibits in the original format? 
See response to Question 22. 

25. Will the Parking Authority provide office space for operator staff? 
Yes. A shared office space for one (1) person will be provided in Metuchen 
Borough Hall during normal business hours. 

26. Will the Parking Authority provide a vehicle for meter and maintenance tasks? 
No. 

27. If yes, what type of vehicle(s) will be provided? 
See response to question 26. 

28. The RFP indicates Metuchen Borough will continue to perform enforcement duties. What 
enforcement/citation management solution is the parking authority using today for 
citation issuance and processing? 
Please note, the Operator will have no responsibility with regards to parking 
enforcement/citation management. The Operator will interact with enforcement 
staff and the Police Department with regards to enforcement strategies, 
recommendations and customer service related to citations. 

29. Who (Metuchen Borough or Operator) will be the Merchant of Record (responsible for 
processing credit cards)? 
The MPA will be the Merchant of Record. 



 

30. Metuchen Borough is requesting the operator provide regular patrols providing security 
to the parkers. Does the Borough require the patrols be performed by a licensed security 
company? 
See response to Question 15. 

31. Is the Park Smarter App generally available or have issues been reported by parkers? 
The Park Smarter App is available for payment for on-street meters and off-street 
pay stations. 

32. Does the Borough have an inventory of spare parts for the IPS single and multi-space 
meters? 
Yes. See below: 
Meter Parts 

• 13 reconditioned meters 
• 4 spare meters (new) 
• 11 meters out for servicing at IPS 
• 16 meter bases 
• 20 new meter poles 
• 4 battery chargers 
• 18 backup batteries 
• 12 mechanical (non IPS) meter domes 
• 50 (non IPS) meter holders & brackets 

             Pay Station/Kiosk Parts 
• 1 – 1x16 US Key Pad Complete 
• 1 MSZ EMU Card Reader 
• 1 Pay by Plate Key Pad Assembly 
• 1 Thermal Printer with IPS cover 
• 32 Meter Reader Cards 
• 1 Battery Charger, Battery Charger Assembly 
• 14 Rolls of Kiosk paper 

33. What is the percentage of paid parking by the Park Smarter app, single space meters 
and multi-space meters? 
In January 2024, 51.3% of transient parking (excluding the Pearl Street Garage) 
was paid for through the Park Smarter app.  

34. What are the MPA's priorities and key performance indicators for the management of the 
parking system over the contract term? How will the success of the operator be 
evaluated annually? 
The MPA seeks a qualified Operator to provide quality parking management 
services as outlined in the Scope of Services of the RFP including strong 
customer service and response to parking patron issues and complaints, 
appropriate maintenance of the parking payment equipment, and 
recommendations and potential implementation of municipal parking 



 

management best practices. The Operator’s performance will be monitored 
consistently through the length of the contract by the MPA.  

35. Will the MPA consider a revenue-sharing model where the operator's management fee is 
partially based on achieving annual revenue targets set by the MPA? 
Yes. However, the proposal must include a set management fee. Be advised that 
the MPA will have full control of the setting of parking rates. 

36. How many full-time staff does the MPA currently employ for parking collections and 
administration? Will the employees be retained by MPA or will they be absorbed by the 
new operator. What are the anticipated staffing changes during the transition period? 
There are currently two (2) part-time employees. There will be no employees 
retained by the MPA or MPA employees absorbed by the Operator. The MPA will 
retain their staffing during the transition period. See the response to Question 54.  

37. Can you provide the meter and pay station condition and estimated remaining useful 
life? 
No. Respondents should inspect existing equipment on-street and in the lots. 

38. What type of meters are the non-IPS meters? 
Be advised that non-IPS meters are non-functional. Payment at these meters is 
only through the Park Smarter app (no coins, no credit card). The meter housing 
has a Park Smarter decal/sticker. There is no meter maintenance responsibility 
associated with these meters.  

39. What is the process for handling disputes and appeals related to parking citations? Will 
the operator have any role in administrative hearings or should we plan to provide 
customer service and data only? 
The Operator will provide preliminary customer service and respond to any 
complaints / issues regarding parking tickets and communicate with parking 
enforcement and police personnel. All formal disputes and appeals will be 
handled by the Metuchen Police Department and Municipal Court.  

40. What capital projects, if any, does the MPA anticipate for the parking system over the 
next 5 years that would impact operations? How will these be coordinated with the 
operator? 
The MPA anticipates repaving of 3-4 surface lots and the possible installation of 
EV charging stations over the next 5 years. All projects will be coordinated with 
the Operator. 

41. Are there limits on the number of permits to be issued/sold for each lot? Is there a 
waiting list? Any planned changes during the contract term? 
There are waiting lists for some lots, so the Operator must monitor the usage of 
permits and administer additional permits as necessary.  

42. Are there any unique local ordinances or policies related to parking that the operator 
should be aware of when developing our management plan and budget? 



 

See the Metuchen Borough website for parking ordinances.  
43. Are NJ Transit permits to be sold by the winning bidder? Or are they sold by NJ Transit 

directly?  
The two NJ Transit lots are daily parking only. No permits are sold.  

44. Is there currently overnight enforcement? If not, is the plan to include moving forward?  
There is no current overnight enforcement. 

45. Which (if any) Metuchen businesses receive discounted or free parking at the locations 
included in the RFP?  
Free parking is not provided to any Metuchen businesses. A discounted permit 
rate is available for Metuchen residents and business owners at the following lots: 

• Pennsylvania Avenue ($270/quarter) 
• Station Place ($270/quarter) 
• Halsey Street ($165/quarter) 

46. Can you please verify the location of the South Main lot? Is it the location indicated as 
“J” on the location map? If so, are these spaces physically connected to the Halsey 
Street lot (location “A”)?  
The South Main lot is located at 183 Main Street. An updated map with the correct 
location will be available on the MPA website before the start of the contract.  

47. At what point does the NJ Transit North lot end and the Pennsylvania Avenue lot begin?  
The boundary of the NJ Transit North lot and the Pennsylvania Avenue lot is 
located at the ADA-accessible ramp to the platform on Pennsylvania Avenue. 

48. Will there be a valet component to any event parking?  
Presently there is no municipal valet operation. 

49. How many spaces are allocated for NJ Transit employees in both NJ Transit lots? Are 
they notated/include signage showing such?  
There are 6 spaces designated for NJ Transit employees in the south 
(northbound) transit lot. These spaces are delineated by NJ Transit signage.  

50. Will the winning bidder have an office in Metuchen? What are the expectations for being 
on-site versus remote?  
Yes, see response to Question 25. The Operator will be expected to be on site for 
16 hours weekly. In addition, until a digital permitting system is implemented, an 
on-site permit clerk will be needed for a minimum of 20 hours weekly.  

51. Can you please provide specifications/scope for meter maintenance?  

• Conduct daily visual inspections checking status indicator lights (red, 
green, etc.), screen displays, and payment information stickers.  

• Replace batteries as needed. 



 

• Replace paper in pay station kiosks as needed. 
• Troubleshoot parking equipment malfunctions and replace defective parts. 

Meter technicians must ensure that pay stations and meters are operational 
95% of the time. 

• Escalate issues to IPS Technical Support when needed.  
• Maintain appropriate records, logs, and reports through IPS Software 

(DMS)  
• Create an RMA ticket through IPS Software (DMS) for meters that will need 

further maintenance work. 

52. Can a digital P&L please be provided?  
See response to Question 22. 

53. How many vehicles are required to perform the services for this contract?  
See response to Question 19.  

54. Please provide a current staffing schedule by position and hours.  
The current staffing schedule includes: 

Permit clerk (MPA) – 26.5 hours/week.  
On-site manager (MPA) – 15 hours/week. 
Meter Technicians / Maintenance (Borough of Metuchen) – 20 hours/week. 

55. Are you able to provide original documents for Exhibits A-I and L? The copies provided 
in the RFP appear to be scanned and are difficult to read.   
See response to Question 22. 
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